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Nos. 21-2619, 21-2650, 21-2671 & 21-3211
Appeals from the United 
States District Court for the 
Northern District of Indiana, 
Fort Wayne Division.

United States of America, 
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

No. l:17-cr-07 DRL-SLCKyombe Bolden, et al,
Defendants-Appellants.

Damon R. Leichty, Judge.

ORDER

All four appellants—Kyombe Bolden, William Beamon, Ronnie Burrus, and De- 
metri Beachem—belonged to the 2500 gang in Indiana. An indictment charged them 
with attacking three people (two members of a rival gang plus an innocent bystander). 
All four pleaded guilty to three counts of violent assault in aid of racketeering, 18 U.S.C. 
§1959(a), and three counts of using a firearm during that offense, 18 U.S.C. §924(c). The 
firearms crime provides a minimum sentence of 120 months, consecutive to the sen­
tence on the substantive offense in which the firearm was used, but sentences on multi­
ple §924 convictions may run concurrently to each other. When negotiating the guilty 
pleas, the four defendants, their lawyers, and the prosecutor all assumed that the dis­
trict court would impose concurrent sentences on the §1959 crimes and concurrent
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sentences on the §924 crimes, but run the racketeering and firearms sentences consecu­
tively.

That is exactly what happened. Each defendant was sentenced to 120 months' 
imprisonment on each firearms count. The firearms sentences run concurrently with 
each other but consecutively to the racketeering sentences. The upshot is a total of 360 
months for Beamon, 360 months for Burrus, 324 months for Bolden, and 288 months for 
Beachem. All four defendants moved to withdraw their pleas, objecting to the district 
court's decision to calculate the advisory range by starting with the attempted-murder 
Guideline rather than the assault Guideline. The judge denied these motions, observing 
that the plea agreements left sentencing in the court's hands and that the nature of the 
charges (violent assault in aid of racketeering) did not determine the way cross-refer­
ences work in the Guidelines, which incorporate significant real-offense (as opposed to 
charge-offense) principles.

Come the appeal, all four defendants have presented an argument never men­
tioned in the district court: instead of running the §924 convictions concurrently, the 
judge should have merged them into a single §924 conviction for each defendant, so 
that each would have a total of four convictions rather than six. This argument would 
not affect the time to be spent in prison, but it would reduce each defendant's special 
assessment from $600 (six counts of conviction at $100 per count) to $400. The prosecu­
tor has conceded that merger is required by this circuit's precedent. See United States v. 
Cureton, 739 F.3d 1032,1039-45 (7th Cir. 2014); United States v. Bloch, 718 F.3d 638, 643- 
44 (7th Cir. 2013).

Defendants are not satisfied by the prospect of a remand whose only practical ef­
fect will be to shave $200 off of each one's special assessment. Instead all four defend­
ants contend that they are entitled to have their pleas set aside—in other words, to ob­
tain the relief that they initially sought on the ground that the Guideline range was too 
high. The prosecutor, though consenting to merger of the §924 counts, opposes any or­
der vacating the guilty pleas and convictions on the other four counts.

Appellate review proceeds under the plain-error standard, because the current 
argument was not presented to the district judge. Error has been conceded, but it is not 
clear, materially harmful error. (The difference between concurrent and merged sen­
tences is so slight that no one caught it in the district court.) And the final step of plain- 
error review, finding that failure to correct the error would seriously undermine the 
fairness or public reputation of judicial proceedings, see United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 
725, 735-37 (1993), has not been established. Defendants say that the district judge 
should have told them about the way the federal unit of prosecution works when multi­
ple gun counts are based on temporally overlapping conduct. Maybe so, though "unit
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of prosecution" is an esoteric concept even for many lawyers. But defendants care about 
consequences rather than terminology. For each of these four defendants, the only prac­
tical difference between concurrent and merged §924 sentences is the $200 reduction in 
special assessments. We do not think it remotely likely that, if the judge had told each 
defendant that he would owe $200 less than his lawyer had informed him, any of the 
four would have balked at entering the plea and insisted on a trial. Vacating these pleas, 
not enforcing them, is what would bring the judicial system into disrepute.

All four defendants' plea agreements contain waivers of any right to contest the 
sentence on appeal. But two of the four (Burrus and Beachem) nonetheless contest their 
sentences, arguing on both constitutional and Guidelines grounds that the district judge 
should not have used the attempted-murder Guideline as a starting place. Their consti­
tutional argument, which Beamon joins, is incompatible with United States v. Watts, 519 
U.S. 148 (1997), and we do not address the Guidelines argument given the waiver.

Burrus and Beachem invoke United States v. Litos, 847 F.3d 906, 910-11 (7th Cir. 
2017), for the proposition that substantial arguments may be considered notwithstand­
ing waivers. That is not what Litos holds, and it would effectively prevent defendants 
from negotiating for benefits in exchange for waivers. If a waiver can be enforced only 
when the district judge is right, then the waiver has no effect; the court of appeals al­
ways would reach the merits and try to classify some errors as worse than others. The 
waiver blocks the whole effort. (Most appellate waivers allow defendants to contend 
that a sentence is illegal, in the sense that it exceeds the statutory maximum, but none of 
our four defendants makes such an argument.)

Litos dealt with a different problem. Four defendants were sentenced to pay resti­
tution. One of the four negotiated an appellate waiver. Litos first held that the award of 
restitution was erroneously large and then asked what to do about the fourth defend­
ant, who had waived this argument on appeal. The court observed that the award was 
joint and several, which meant that it could be collected in full of any of the defendants. 
If only three defendants benefitted from a reduction, the fourth would remain liable for 
the whole amount. Enforcing the appellate waiver in that circumstance, we observed, 
would make the defendant worse off (his effective restitution obligation would be 
quadrupled on appeal). The function of an appellate waiver is to commit factual and le­
gal questions to a single judge (the district judge) rather than to four (one district judge 
plus three circuit judges), not to expose any defendant to the possibility that a compo­
nent of the sentence would become more onerous on appeal. That's why we reviewed 
the fourth defendant's restitution obligation in Litos. Nothing remotely similar occurred 
in this appeal. Defendants agreed to accept a single district judge's resolution of all dis­
putes about their sentences, and we hold them to that bargain.
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The sentences are vacated to the extent that we remand with instructions to 
merge the §924 sentences into a single conviction for each of the four appellants. The 
judgments are otherwise affirmed.
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All four appellants Kyombe Bolden, William Beamon, Ronnie Burrus, and De- metnjBeachem belonged to the 2500 gang in 
Indiana. An indictment charged them with attacking three people (two members ofla,rival gang plus an innocent bystander). All 
four pleaded guilty to three counts of violent assault in aid of racketeering, 18 U.S.6. §1959(a), and three counts of using a 
firearm during that offense, 18 U.S.C. §924(c). The firearms crime provides a minimum sentence of 120 months, consecutive to 
the sen- tence on the substantive offense in which the firearm was used, but sentepj;es on multi- pie §924 convictions may run 
concurrently to each other. When negotiating the guilty pleas, the four defendants^heir lawyers, and. the prosecutor all 
assumed that the dis- trict court would impose concurrent sentences on the §1959,.crimes and concurrent sentences on the 
§924 crimes, but run the racketeering and firearms sentences consecu- tively. < v>
That is exactly what happened. Each defendant was sentenced to 120 months’ imp'rjSonment on each firearms count. The 
firearms sentences run concurrently with each other but consecutively to the racketeering sentences. The upshot is a total of 
360 months for Beamon, 360 months for Burrus, 324 months for Bolden, and 288!(rrrp'nths for Beachem. All four defendants 
moved to withdraw their pleas, objecting to the district court's decision to calculateftie' advisory range by starting with the 
attempted-murder Guideline rather than the assault Guideline. The judge denied thesfe motions, observing that the plea 
agreements left sentencing in the court's hands and that the nature of the charges .(violent assault in aid of racketeering) did not 
determine the way cross-refer- ences work in the Guidelines, which incorporate significant real-offense (as opposed to charge- 
offense) principles.
Come the appeal, all four defendants have presented an argument never men- tibned in the district court: instead of running the 
§924 convictions concurrently, the judge should have merged them into a single §924 conviction for each defendant, so that 
each would have a total of four convictions rather than six. This argument would nqhaffect the time to be spent in prison, but it 
would reduce each defendant's special assessment from $600 (six counts of convlfcfiqn at $100 per count) to $400. The 
prosecu- tor has conceded that merger is required by this circuit's precedent. See-Qriited .States v. Cureton, 739 F.3d 1032, 
1039 45 (7th Cir. 2014); United States v. Bloch, 718 F.3d 638, 643 44 (7th Cir. 20T3)1
Defendants are not satisfied by the prospect of a remand whose only practical ef-?bct will be to shave $200 off of each one's 
special assessment. Instead all four defend- ants contend that they are entitled td“h|a^e their pleas set aside in other words, to 
ob- tain the relief that they initially sought on the ground that the Guideline range wia^ too high. The prosecutor, though 
consenting to merger of the §924 counts, opposes any or- der vacating the guilty^ibas and convictions on the other four 
counts.
Appellate review proceeds under the plain-error standard, because the current argiiment was not presented to the district 
judge. Error has been conceded, but it is not clear, materially harmful error. (The^jtfference between concurrent and merged 
sen- tences is so slight that no one caught it in the district court.) And the final ste.pjjpjxplain- error review, finding that failure to 
correct the error would seriously undermine the fairness or public reputation of juBiciqj proceedings, see United States v. Olano, 
507 U.S. 725, 735 37 (1993), has not been established. Defendants say that the disfHct judge should have told them about the 
way the federal unit of prosecution works when multi- pie gun counts are based ob't^mporally overlapping conduct. Maybe so, 
though "unit of prosecution" is an esoteric concept even for many lawyers. But delfendcints care about consequences rather 
than terminology. For each of these four defendants, the only prac- tical difference between concurrent and merged §924 
sentences is the $200 reduction in special assessments. We do not think it remot&ij/'likely that, if the judge had told each 
defendant that he would owe $200 less than his lawyer had informed him, any of^the'fbur would have balked at entering the 
plea and insisted on a trial. Vacating these pleas, not enforcing them, is what wouftl^bfing the judicial system into disrepute.
All four defendants' plea agreements contain waivers of any right to contest the sWnience on appeal. But two of the four (Burrus 
and Beachem) nonetheless contest their sentences, arguing on both constitutionafcSBckGuidelines grounds that the district 
judge should not have used the attempted-murder Guideline as a starting place, ifieif consti- tutional argument, which Beamon 
joins, is incompatible with United States v. Watts, 519 U.S. 148 (1997), and we duriSt address the Guidelines argument given 
the waiver. {%/.
Burrus and Beachem invoke United States v. Litos, 847 F.3d 906, 910 11 (7th Cir?'2Q17), for the proposition that substantial 
arguments may be considered notwithstand- ing waivers. That is not what Litos h&Tds, and it would effectively prevent 
defendants from negotiating for benefits in exchange for waivers. If a waiver can be’J-nforced only when the district judge is 
right, then the waiver has no effect; the court of appeals al- ways would reach th^||prits and try to classify some errors as 
worse than others. The waiver blocks the whole effort. (Most appellate waivers allow^defendants to contend that a sentence is 
illegal, in the sense that it exceeds the statutory maximum, but none of our four cM&ficiants makes such an argument.)
Litos dealt with a different problem. Four defendants were sentenced to pay restitution. One of the four negotiated an 
appellate waiver. Litos first held that the award of restitution was erroneously lar^jjyd then asked what to do about the fourth 
defend- ant, who had waived this argument on appeal. The court observed that t^-^ard was joint and several, which meant 
that it could be collected in full of any of the defendants. If only three defendantsWeftefftted from a reduction, the fourth would 
remain liable for the whole amount. Enforcing the appellate waiver in that circum.Staftce, we observed, would make the
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FROM: Williams, Terrell 
TO:16941027 
SUBJECT: RE: Appeal 
DATE: 01/05/2023 11:36:08 AM

l me
: .

Received argument confirmation per argument email form for Attorney Mr. Nathaniel,Whalen for Appellee USA in 21-2650. [50] 
[7269014] [21-2650, 21-2619, 21-2671,21-3211] (KRA) [Entered: 10/26/2022 09:27 AM]
11/01/2022 51 Argument reset for Monday, November 7, 2022, at 9:30 a.m. in the Main Courtroom, Room 2721, of the
United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit, 219 S. Dearborn Street, Chjcago, Illinois. Each side limited to 15 
minutes. [51] [7270371] [21-2619, 21-2650, 21-2671,21-3211] (SK) [Entered: 11/01/2022 09:34 AM]
11/07/2022 52 Case heard and taken under advisement by panel: Joel M. Flaum, Circuit Judge; Frank H. Easterbrook,
Circuit Judge and Amy J. St. Eve, Circuit Judge. [52] [7271687] [21-2619, 21-2650, 21-2671,21-3211] (MLM) [Entered: 
11/07/2022 11:39 AM]
11/07/2022 53 Case argued by Attorney Mr. Nathaniel Whalen for Appellee USA in 21-2619, Ms. Ruth F. Masters for
Appellant William D. Beamon and Mr. Nathaniel Whalen for Appellee USA in 21-2650,. Nicholas M. Gallagher for Appellant 
Ronnie D. Burrus and Mr. Nathaniel Whalen for Appellee USA in 21-2671, 21-321,i. [53] [7271689] [21-2619, 21-2650, 21-2671, 
21-3211] (MLM) [Entered: 11/07/2022 11:42 AM]
11/07/2022 54 Filed letter from Appellant Demetri D. Beachem in 21-32TTregarding appointed attorney. [54]
[7271865] [21-3211,21-2619, 21-2650, 21-2671] (CAG) [Entered: 11/07/2022 03:47 PM]
11/14/2022 55 ORDER re: Letter. The court received a letter from Appellant Demetri Beachem requesting assistance
in contacting appointed counsel. Beachem's case has been fully briefed, was argtied on November 7, and is now under 
advisement. There is nothing he or his lawyer should, or can, do at the moment other than to wait for the court's decision. 
Accordingly, the letter will be filed without further court action. MRO [55] [7273008]'[21-3211] (HTP) [Entered: 11/14/2022 10:40
AM]
11/15/2022 56 Filed Nonprecedential Disposition PER CURIAM. The seritehces are VACATED to the extent that we
REMAND with instructions to merge the §924 sentences into a single conviction for each of the four appellants. The judgments 
are otherwise AFFIRMED. Joel M. Flaum, Circuit Judge; Frank H. Easterbrook, Gifcljit Judge and Amy J. St. Eve, Circuit Judge. 
[56] [7273384] [21-2619, 21-2650, 21-2671, 21-3211] (HTP) [Entered: 11/15/2022 ;10:21 AM]
11/15/2022 57 ORDER: Final judgment filed per nonprecedential dispositiBn. With costs: no. [57] [7273389] [21-2619,
21-2650, 21-2671,21-3211] (HTP) [Entered: 11/15/2022 10:31 AM] * ' ,
12/07/2022 58 Mandate issued. No record to be returned. [58] [7277649J>[21-2619, 21-2650, 21-2671,21-3211] (SK)
[Entered: 12/07/2022 10:28 AM]
12/07/2022 Open Document FOR COURT USE ONLY: Certified copy^STl-l/15/2022 Nonprecedential Disposition
and Final judgment with Mandate sent to the District Court Clerk & U.S. Probation?f7277651-2] [7277651] [21-2619, 21-2650,

14 S4,

4. 1. .

21-2671,21-3211] (SK) [Entered: 12/07/2022 10:33 AM]

DEMETRI D BEACHEM on 1/5/2023 6:50:07 AM wrote 
Thanks bro fr, Imk what they say but get some answers for sure. 
Headed to work now
-—Williams, Terrell on 1/4/2023 9:36 PM wrote:
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W V", ■ 
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Ok

DEMETRI D BEACHEM on 1/4/2023 3:20:03 PM wrote
Cuz i need you to do sum for me asap, Prolly in the morning but can you call the office of the court of appeals , i got the number 
and say
Hi im calling to check on my brother docket, that i had a appeal in and we wantecLto, kno if its been decided and ruled apon yet? 
If so , When was the option made. Will we be able to get a copy of that order serit'tfcrhie at the prison of milan, michigan. Let the 
court know that we havent heard from my attorney and we tryna get a hold of whats happening.
The number is 312-435-5850, its the clerks office thats who you have to talk to.
If they say anything about having to pay money then ask how much. ;!V‘ ;v
I need you to call in morning for me please and thank you. for some reason it wont allow me to call from here.
LMK
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

FORT WAYNE DIVISION.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

CAUSE NO. 1:17-CR-07(1) DRLv.

DEMETRI D BEACHEM,

Defendant.

SENTENCING MEMORANDUM

On October 4, 2014, 2500 members shot up a rival gang’s home in Fort Wayne, Indiana.1 

Demetri Beachem fired eleven rounds from his .45 caliber Glock (with a green laser sight) at two 

rivals. He pleaded guilty to counts 9-14 of an 18-count indictment—one count of assault with a 

dangerous weapon in aid of racketeering, see 18 U.S.C. §§ 2,1959(a)(3); two counts of attempted assault 

with a dangerous weapon in aid of racketeering, see 18 U.S.C. §§ 2, 1959(a)(6); and three counts of 

discharging a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence, see 18 U.S.C. § 924(c).

SENTENCING GUIDELINES

The court must first calculate the guideline sentence correctly, then decide what is the right

and reasonable sentence for this defendant. Nelson v. United States, 555 U.S. 350, 351 (2009); United

States v. Schmidt, 930 F.3d 858, 862 (7th Cir. 2019). The 2018 sentencing guidelines apply. See Peugh v.

United States, 569 U.S. 530, 531 (2013); U.S.S.G. § 1B1.11.

2500” was a Fort Wayne enterprise engaged in drug and firearm trafficking. The group was closely tied with 
the “Grit Gang” in Bloomington, Indiana. Given their close association, the court refers to “2500” collectively 
for 2500 and Grit Gang

1 “

A62
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in Ashland, Kentucky if appropriate or where he may be located as reasonably close as possible to his

family in Bloomington, Indiana.

Upon release from prison, the defendant will be placed on supervised release for terms of 1

year on counts 9,11, and 13 and 2 years on counts 10,12, and 14, all terms to run concurrently. While

on supervised release, he must comply with the terms of supervision set forth in fflj 151-163 of the

presentence report, which paragraphs the court incorporates as part of this sentence having made an

independent judgment that they should be imposed under 18 U.S.C. § 3583(d). The defendant

expressly waived reading of these supervisory conditions.

The court imposes no fine. The defendant must pay to the United States a special assessment 

of $100.00 on each count, which is due immediately.

The court grants the government’s motion to dismiss the remaining counts of the indictment

only vis-a-vis this defendant.

SO ORDERED.

s/ Damon K LeichtvAugust 30, 2021
Judge, United States District Court

cc: R. Burrus
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A. Remaining Objections.

The court already ruled on myriad objections after an evidentiary hearing [ECF 394], Certain

objections remain for ruling specific to Mr. Beachem that he maintains today from the briefing that

has been filed in this matter.

Mr. Beachem objects to ^j 10 of the presentence report that describes his involvement in the

videos created and posted online by 2500. He says he cannot be seen in the video posted on November

13,2014 tided “It’s Da Block.” However, Detective Darrin Strayer with the City of Fort Wayne Police

Department and a detail to the FBI’s Safe Streets Task Force identified him in this video based on

photos he has seen of Mr. Beachem, previous music videos, and identifiable clothing of Mr. Beachem’s

present in the video [ECF 353 at 134]. Detective Strayer was also able to identify Mr. Beachem in

another video published on July 11, 2014 called “Scooby livin’’ [ECF 353 at 125-26]. The court may

consider any reliable information. See 18 U.S.C. § 3661; United. States v. Pere% 956 F.3d 970, 976-77 (7th

Cir. 2020); United States v. Roche, 415 F.3d 614, 618 (7th Cir. 2005). The information provided by

Detective Strayer is reliable. The court overrules this objection.

Mr. Beachem also objects to ^ 14 of the presentence report, which discusses a recording of a

controlled buy at which Mr. Beachem was present. He disputes that his voice can be heard on the

recording. Facts affecting a defendant’s sentence must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence.

United States v. Mays, 593 F.3d 603, 609 (7th Cir. 2010). His admissions at his plea hearing address this

objection in full.

At the plea hearing, his counsel asked, “there is a recording from [] July 11th, 2014, in which

a firearm was purchased, and that you were present when that occurred; you acknowledge that

recording?” Mr. Beachem was responded, ‘Wes.” His counsel then asked, “[a]nd you acknowledge

that you were, in fact, present when that recording was made?” Mr. Beachem responded, “Yes” [ECF

389 at 20]. “Admissions in a plea agreement also conclusively establish the admitted facts.” United

2
A63
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States v. Krasinski, 545 F.3d 546, 552 (7th Cir. 2007); accord United States v. Wameke, 310 F.3d 542, 550

(7 th Cir. 2002) (“An admission is better than a jury’s finding beyond a reasonable doubt; iteven

removes all contest from the case.”). The court overrules this objection.

Mr. Beachem pleaded guilty to counts 9 and 11 for attempted assault with a dangerous weapon

in aid of racketeering. He contends that a three-level reduction should’ve applied on these counts

under U.S.S.G. § 2X1.1(b)(1) because the offenses are attempts, not actual assaults. But U.S.S.G. §

2X1.1(c) states that “[wjhen an attempt... is expressly covered by another offense guideline section, 

apply that guideline section.” The court previously ruled that the attempted murder guideline under

U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1 applies on counts 9 and 11, so this provision controls. See U.S.S.G. § 2X1.1(c) and

app. n.l. The court overrules this objection.

B. Sentencing Guideline Calculation.

Having resolved the objections, the court now adopts as its findings 1-120 of the

presentence report. For sake of clarity, the court interprets f 34 to be a recitation of the defendant’s

position only, not actual factual findings now adopted by the court [see also ECF 394 at 15-17].

■ Mr. Beachem starts at level 33 on counts 9, 11, and 13. U.S.S.G. §§ 2A2.1(a)(l), 2E1.3(a)(2).

The grouping rules assign a single unit to each count, thereby taking his combined offense level

upward three levels to level 36. U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4. His clear and timely acceptance of responsibility

reduces this calculation to level 33. U.S.S.G. §§ 3El.l(a), (b).

The guidelines zero criminal history points and thus place Mr. Beachem in criminalassess

history category I. U.S.S.G. Chap. 5A. There the guidelines recommend a sentencing range of 135-

168 months on counts 9,11,-and 13, U.S.S.G. chap. 5A, but a statutory maximum of 36 months applies

to counts 9 and 11, see 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(6), and 240 months (20 years) to count 13, see 18 U.S.C. §

1959(a)(3). The guideline sentence on each of counts 10,12, and 14 is the statutory term of 120 months

(10 years). 18 U.S.C. § 924(c); U.S.S.G. § 2K2.4(b).

3
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DISCUSSION

The court decides this sentence under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) and Hooker v. United States, 543 U.S.

220 (2005). Turning to the statutory factors, the court must arrive at a reasonable sentence: one

sufficient but not greater than necessary to satisfy the statute’s purposes. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).

Much has been said of this case already. Little racketeering activity by an enterprise could be

called more serious. See 18 U.S.C §§ 3553(a)(1), (a)(2)(A). Given a shooting free-for-all of residential

homes that intends to kill rivals and wantonly disregards the lives of many other innocent neighbors

and children living nearby who barely escape serious injury or death, only serious injury or tragic death

could be characterized the more serious offense. The shooting left two houses riddled with bullets.

The miracle that no one was seriously hurt or killed isn’t a reason for any material grace given the

circumstances of this ongoing war. Members of such groups must understand the significant

consequences of their criminal conduct and the significant collateral effects to others in our 

community, particularly given the challenges the City of Fort Wayne faces in this regard. There is a

need today for both specific and general deterrence. See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(B).

Mr. Beachem’s role in such violence calls for a stout deterrent. See 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553(a)(1),

(a)(2)(B). After viewing the insulting social media videos about his fallen comrade and 2500 at the

local mall, he traveled to the location where his rivals filmed their insult. He was one of four “hitters”

planned for this violence. He orally challenged J.S. and F.B. before the shooting. He announced 2500’s

presence. He fired first—commencing the “50-shot” wave. He fired eleven rounds (second in number

of shots fired among his comrades)—using a green laser sight for its intended purpose to put these

rivals in the line of fire. He continued shooting even when J.S. dropped for cover and used his laser

sight to track toward his rival. Each round was potentially deadly. See 18 U.S.C §§ 3553(a)(1), (a)(2)(A).
/ .

Tracking down rivals and seeking to kill them in this manner isn’t self-defense.

4
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Quite aside from the risk to his rivals, a teenage girl was shot in the finger; another teenage

girl barely eluded a bullet to the head; and two young children in bed had bullets hit the wall above

them—all ■ innocent bystanders. This shooting sought out 2500’s rivals but it victimized young 

members of our public—a real collateral consequence that also calls for protection. See 18 U.S.C §§

3553(a)(1), (a)(2)(C). Mr. Beachem prefers to call these individuals “alleged victims,” but they were 

victims in the true sense. His inability to recognize this at sentencing underscores the. need for

deterrence and today’s sentence. See 18 U.S.C § 3553(a)(2)(B).

- '. Protecting the public from such violence and deterring future crime through a significant time 

of incapacitation are paramount goals today, see 18 U.S.C §§ 3553(a)(2)(B), (a)(2)(C), not least when

Mr.: Beachem, though not as present as other members in certain videos, chose to glamorize 2500 

through-YouTube videos—a means of communication, standing shoulder-to-shoulder with fellow

members, for the purposes of identity, recruitment, and sending a message to 2500’s rivals that would

merely perpetuate an ongoing war, see 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A).

(Though this is Mr. Beachem’s first criminal conviction, see 18 U.S.C § 3553(a)(1),.he was

present during another shooting in October 2013 involving 2500, and he was present during a firearm

purchase with 2500 [ECF 389 at 20]. See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A). His 2500-related activity wasn’t

then just this shooting. That said, before his arrest, Mr. Beachem hadn’t spent a day in prison, taking

the young 27-year-old today (and young 20-year-old at the time of this shooting) quickly to a serious

sentence. He possessed the .45 caliber handgun legally, but his ready use of the firearm in such violent,

2500-related activity presents lawful possession as only a marginal mitigating factor. Mr. Beachem was

quite aware of the enterprise’s illegal firearm use and trafficking.

Firearm offenders recidivate at too high a rate, and Mr. Beachem’s negative peer association

accentuates that concern. See United States Sent. Comm’n, Recidivism Among Federal Firearms Offenders

17,43 (2019) (“firearms offenders recidivated at a higher rate than non-firearms offenders by a margin

5
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of over 21 percentage points”) (“Violent section 924(c) offenders generally recidivated at a higher rate,

more quickly, and were more likely to commit another violent offense in the future.”). The recidivism

risk will tend to decline measurably as Mr. Beachem ages, at least statistically. See United States Sent.

Comm’n, The Effects of Aging on Recidivism Among Federal Offenders 22, 25, Fig. 19 (2017) (rearrest rates

for firearm offenders in their 20s is 79.3%, in their 40s is 62.8%, and in their 50s is 44.8%). Given an

absence of prior criminal history, Mr. Beachem can still choose to be the exception to the recidivism

risk, but this sentence addresses the legitimate risk today. See 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553(a)(1), (a)(2)(B).

Without excusing the seriousness of the main event, this record lacks certain criminative

characteristics shared by Mr. Beachem’s accomplices. See 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553(a)(1), (a)(6); Gall v. United

States, 552 U.S. 38, 54 (2007); United States v. Statham, 581 F.3d 548, 556 (7th Cir. 2009). Their absence

in part lead to his lower guideline range (e.g., no obstruction of justice and lower criminal history), and

in part guide the court in selecting his sentence (e.g., less relevant conduct in the enterprise’s illegal

activity on this record).

Mr. Beachem describes a good childhood free from abuse. See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1). His

parents never married. He was primarily raised by his mother. His father became more involved in his

life around the eighth grade, and they communicate daily now. His mother’s health prevented her

from working, so he cared for his mother and younger sister. He gave up basketball at a young age to 

do so. His work history, even at a young age, reflects his goal to help his family. He also graduated

high school and completed some college. In the time between these offenses and his arrest, Mr.

Beachem experienced two life-altering events: his mother’s death and his son’s birth. In August 2021,

he married his long-term girlfriend. She says he is a good and supportive ^father; he even attended a 

parent-teacher conference via video for his son while incarcerated. Uniquely among 2500 members,

he has no issues with substance abuse. The gap between this October 2014 shooting and his February

6
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2017 arrest is noteworthy for its seeming abstinence from criminal activity on this record, his

employment, hard work, and secured apartment. See id.

Youth can play a role in poor decisions, see, e.g., Gall, 552 U.S. at 58; Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S.

551, 559 (2005), but Mr. Beachem (as attested by at least one witness) knew right from wrong at a

young age; and he had multiple opportunities this violent evening to pause, rethink, and make different

choices. Approximately 34 individuals attended his sentencing, demonstrating tremendous support

from family and other supporters, though this support never rooted him against his 2500-related

activity in the past or this shooting that night.

The government recommends a sentence at the high end of the range (plus the additional 120

months), whereas Mr. Beachem advocates for a variance downward to an all-in sentence of 120

months. The court considers the totality of today’s sentence. Though separate § 924(c) charges may

stack on each other, see 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(l)(D)(ii); United States v. Ginglen, 467 F.3d 1071, 1072 (7th

Cir. 2006), they won’t under these circumstances, see United States v. Cureton, 739 F.3d 1032, 1040-42

(7th Cir. 2014); <f. United States v. Cejas, 761 F.3d 717, 732 (7th Cir. 2014). Each § 924(c) count rests on

a separate predicate offense, but not separate predicate conduct.

Though the recommended guideline sentence proves only an initial benchmark, see Freeman v.

United States, 564 U.S. 522, 529 (2011); Gall, 552 U.S. at 50, a guideline sentence tends to pose the best

hope, on .a national basis and among his accomplices, that today’s sentence will avoid unwarranted

sentencing disparities, see 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(6); United States v. Scott, 631 F.3d 401,405 (7th Cir. 2011);

United States v. Boscarino, 437 F.3d 634, 637 (7th Cir. 2006). The serious nature of these offenses and

the need for deterrence and public protection underscore the reasonableness of this guideline

sentence. See 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553(a)(1), (a)(2). The defense’s variance would erase these sentencing goals.

So true that is that the court would reach this sentence notwithstanding its prior ruling on Mr.

7
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Beachem’s objections to the guideline calculation. At the same time, though factors could drive a

sentence higher, a higher sentence would not account for all mitigating factors.

Review of all factors in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) persuades the court that the following sentence is 

sufficient but not greater than necessary to satisfy federal sentencing goals: 36 months on counts 9 

and 11 and 168 months on count 13 to be served concurrently, and 120 months on each of counts

10,12, and 14 to be served concurrently to each other and consecutively to counts 9,11, and 13.

For counts 9 and 11, the court may impose a term of supervised release not more than 1 year.

18 U.S.C. § 3583(b)(3); see also U.S.S.G. § 5D1.2(a)(3) (1 year). As to counts 10, 12, and 14, the court

may impose a term of not more than 5 years, 18 U.S.C. § 3583(b)(1); see also U.S.S.G. § 5D1.2(a)(l) (2-

5 years); and as to count 13, a term of not more than 3 years may be imposed, 18 U.S.C. § 3583(b)(2);

also U.S.S.G. § 5D1.2(a)(2) (1-3 years). These terms run concurrently. 18 U.S.C. § 3624(e). Terms.see

of 1 year on counts .9,11, and 13 and 2 years on counts 10,12, and 14 are appropriate.

Mr. Beachem can’t pay the fines recommended by the guidelines even if afforded the most

generous of installment payment schedules, so the court imposes no fine. A special assessment of

$100.00 for each count is mandatory. 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(2)(A).

SENTENCE

Accordingly, it is the court’s judgment that the defendant, Demetri D. Beachem, is hereby

committed to the custody of the Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of 36 months on

counts 9 and 11 and 168 months on count 13 to be served concurrently; and 120 months on each of

counts 10, 12, and 14 to be served concurrently to each other and consecutively to counts 9,11, and

13.

Under 18 U.S.C. § 3585, the court leaves it to the Bureau of Prisons to determine the

appropriate amount of time served to be credited toward the defendant’s sentence. The court

recommends that the Bureau of Prisons designate as the place of the defendant’s confinement,

8
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consistent with his security classification as determined by the Bureau of Prisons, a facility where he

may remain as reasonably close as possible to his family in Northern Indiana.

Upon release from prison, the defendant will be placed on supervised release for terms of 1

year (on counts 9, 11, and 13) and 2 years (on counts 10, 12, and 14), all terms to run concurrently. 

While on supervised release, he must comply with the terms of supervision set forth in 121-133 of

the presentence report, which paragraphs the court incorporates as part of this sentence having made

independent judgment that they should be imposed under 18 U.S.C. § 3583(d). The defendantan

expressly waived reading of these supervisory conditions.

The court imposes no fine. The defendant must pay to the United States a special assessment 

of $100.00 on each count, which is due immediately.

The court grants the government’s motion to dismiss the remaining counts of the indictment

vis-a-vis this defendant.

The court grants the government’s amended motion for preliminary order of forfeiture in part

as to this defendant and his firearm and makes that order final as to the defendant to be included

within the judgment. A separate order will be entered. The court will await a motion for a final order

as to third-party interests.

SO ORDERED.

s/ Damon R. l^eichhNovember 15, 2021
Judge, United States District Court

cc: D. Beachem
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

FORT WAYNE DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

CAUSE NO. l:17-cr-07 DRL-SLCv.

DEMETRI D BEACHEM et al,

Defendants.

OPINION & ORDER

After members of the 2500 gang fired fifty shots into a rival gang’s home, the government 

charged Demetri Beachem, William Beamon, Kyombe Bolden, and Ronnie Burrus with multiple 

crimes in an eighteen-count indictment.1 Each one pleaded guilty to two counts of attempted assault 

with a dangerous weapon in aid of racketeering, see 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(6), one count of assault with a 

dangerous weapon in aid of racketeering, see 18 U.S.C. § 1959(a)(3), and three counts of discharging a 

firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence, see 18 U.S.C. § 924(c). The defendants collectively 

objected to both the attempted murder guideline and obstruction of justice enhancement used in their 

presentence reports. The court held an evidentiary hearing and permitted briefing to facilitate the 

following rulings to aid the parties for their individual sentencing hearings.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

“2500” is a Fort Wayne enterprise or gang engaged in drug and firearm trafficking (ECF 366 

at 15).2 The group is closely associated with the “Grit Gang” in Bloomington, Indiana (ECF 366 at

1 Not each defendant was charged with each count in the indictment, but in conjunction there were eighteen 
counts.

2 Because each defendant admitted to the same facts in their plea hearings, the court cites to only one plea 
hearing as a record reference instead of citing to all four. The Oxford English Dictionary recognizes the 
pejoration of the word “gang” only in its eighth definition, see Gang, Oxford 'English Dictionary (3d ed. 2013), and 
members today often refer to their associations as groups or identified neighborhoods, such as 2500 here, rather 
than as gangs. The court consequendy uses the word only when clarity demands.
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15). Given their close association, the court refers to “2500” collectively for 2500 and Grit Gang (see

ECF 366 at 15-16).

■Each defendant was a member of 2500. The group had a history of violent incidents or

shootings against rival gangs, including the Fort Wayne gang'“Mafia” (ECF 366 at 16; ECF 356-1 at

6-7). One member (Devonte Houston), for instance, called this conflict with Mafia a “war.” Fellow

members loyally protected each other because the failure to protect others might show weakness or

result in an individual’s dismissal from the group (ECF 360 at 105,117).

As part of its identity and influence, 2500 members uploaded music videos on the Internet via

YouTube that taunted rival Mafia members and glamorized 2500’s lifestyle (ECF 366 at 17; ECF 360

af 111, 124, 138). The 2500 group used the name “Stack Money” for its music (ECF 356-1 at 9). All

the defendants participated in these music videos (ECF 366 at 17), with Messrs. Beamon, Bolden,.and

Burrus being most involved (ECF 360 at 165).

■ In these videos, 2500 members glamorized the violent attack on “ops,” or opposition gang

members'(ECF 366 at 17; ECF 360 at 21; ECF 356-1 at 6). In the video entitled “Zan with the Lean,”’

for instance, Messrs. Beamon, Bolden, and Burrus recited lyrics directing that opposition members be

killed .with gunfire as revenge for the murder of Demarcus “Scooby” Adams, 2500’s former leader

who died during'an altercation with Mafia members (ECF 366 at 17-18, 22; ECF 360 at 48,139). Mr.

Beachem was also in that video, though he isn’t seen reciting the lyrics (ECF 366 at 18). The

participants in the videos, including Mr. Beachem, at times mimicked trigger fire with their hands

(ECF 360 at 116, 127); and many videos featured actual firearms, including those brandished by

Messrs. Beamon and Burrus (ECF 360 at 117, 119, 133-34). Group members wore attire with

references to 2500 or Scooby (ECF 360 at 134; ECF 356-1 at 9). Some had tattoos signifying their

group membership (ECF 360 at 120).

, The 2500 gang elevated shooters and moneymakers to leadership positions, with the most

2
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violent receiving the greatest amount of respect (ECF 366 at 31; ECF 360 at 106). For instance, Mr. 

Beamon had a history of violence with rival Mafia members. Mr. Beamon admitted during a recorded 

conversation that he shot a Mafia member and his girlfriend in 2012, in which he “saw them fall,”

with Mr. Adams present (ECF 366 at 18-19). Mr. Beamon scoffed at his rival’s weakness when he

failed to respond with violence, and he said he wanted to finish the job by killing his rival’s wounded

girlfriend (ECF 366 at 19). Mr. Beamon later admitted he tried to shoot at another rival on a different

occasion, but his gun jammed (ECF 366 at 19).

Violence between 2500 and Mafia stemmed from deaths in both their ranks. Mafia believed

that Mr. Adams killed one of its own, and Mafia retaliated by killing him in 2014. The deaths sparked 

retaliatory violence between the groups, exacerbated by the posting of threatening videos (ECF 366

at 22; ECF 360 at 108, 110; see ECF 360 at 46). The shooting at issue today is an extension of these

vendettas.

On October 4, 2014, the defendants and other 2500 members planned to celebrate their

former leader’s birthday posthumously with a party. All four defendants and other 2500 members

were at the mall in the early evening, where they viewed insulting social media videos about Mr. Adams

and 2500 posted by Mafia members on territory claimed by 2500—a certain neighborhood block in

Fort Wayne (ECF 366 at 21-22; ECF 360 at 26; ECF 356-1 at 8-10). 2500 members viewed this as an

act of disrespect (ECF 356-1 at 11; ECF 360 at 55).

The 2500 members were angered by the videos and departed from the mall in four separate 

vehicles, following their usual practice of keeping at least one person with a gun permit in each car 

(Ex. 2 at 3 (Devonte Houston saying in recorded interview that shooting was motivated by derogatory 

social media comments about Mr. Adams); ECF 366 at 22-23,27; ECF 356-1 at 11-12).3 This enabled

3 The government submitted the transcript of Devonte Houston’s recorded statement at the evidentiary hearing 
as Exhibit 2.

3
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the shooters or enforcers to engage in violence while the gun permit holders could still claim

possession of the guns in the event of a traffic, stop (ECF 366 at 23; ECF 360 at 27).

The defendants and the other 2500 members looked for the rivals in the video (ECF 366 at

23; ECF 360 at 153-544; ECF 356-1 at 26), though at least some members of the group (including

Messrs. Bolden and Beamon) met at another house before heading to the Caroline and Suttenfield

block (ECF 356-1 at 12-13). By then, it was dark outside (ECF 356-1 at 15). They attempted to locate

these individuals at a residence near their territory; but not finding them, they then congregated at the

Caroline and Suttenfield block (ECF 366 at 23). Two rival Mafia members, J.S. and F.B. (both of

whom appeared in the social media videos), exited a house on Suttenfield (ECF 366 at 23). Mr.

Beachem and these individuals exchanged comments as they tried to confirm their identity, and Mr.

Beachem announced he was from “the Block” and opened fire (Ex. 2 at 3). All four defendants (and

two others) opened fire on J.S. and F.B (ECF 366 at 12-13, 21, 23; ECF 360.at 98,102,150).

> The defendants collectively fired approximately 50 rounds toward the rival gang members,

with Mr. Beachem firing the first shot and each defendant firing multiple rounds (ECF 366 at 24, 27)

Mr. Beamon later said some members of the group used .40 caliber weapons to be more lethal (ECF

360 at 56). Messrs. Beachem and Burrus had laser lights attached to their guns focused on the victims

during the shooting (ECF 366 at 27, 30; ECF 360 at 101,106-07). Their gunfire hit two houses and a

vehicle (ECF 366 at 23). The victims had to take cover (ECF 360 at 100).

There were people in both homes at the time, and victim S.E., a 16-year-old, was hit in the

finger (ECF 366 at 11-12, 23). There were juveniles in the neighboring residence, and one girl in

particular barely escaped injury, with gunfire narrowly missing her head (ECF 366 at 23; ECF 360 at

103). Devonte Houston later said in recorded interview that the shooting was motivated by derogatory

4 Devonte Houston said “[t]hat’s why [they] really went to the block” (Ex. 2 at 2; see also ECF 360 at 153-54).

4
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social media comments about Mr. Adams (ECF 360 at 99-100), and Sierra Brown5 acknowledged that

members were angered by the video (ECF 356-1 at 11-12).

Immediately after the shooting, several 2500 members drove to a nearby liquor store to be

seen on camera for an alibi (ECF 366 at 27; ECF 360 at 102). This group included Messrs. Beamon

and Bolden (ECF 366 at 24; ECF 356-1 at 16-17), and they were wearing clothing identifying them as

2500 members. An “op” at the liquor store made derogatory comments about 2500, and Messrs.

Beamon and Bolden and others (including Dyzel Bowen) proceeded to beat this person up (ECF 366

at 24; ECF 360 at 56,102-03; ECF 356-1 at 17). Mr. Beamon pulled a gun out on the individual (ECF

360 at 103).

Law enforcement later stopped several vehicles with 2500 members and recovered firearms •.

that were matched to multiple shell casings recovered at the shooting scene (ECF 366 at 24-25). They

stopped a Mercury Milan, with driver Ms. Brown and passengers Messrs. Beamon and Bolden (ECF

366 at 25). They recovered Ms. Brown’s loaded handgun (a Glock) from the glove box direcdy in

front of Mr. Beamon, which was used in shooting, and on the floor, they found a high capacity

magazine for the gun (ECF 366 at 25; ECF 356-1 at 21). Mr. Beamon had encouraged Ms. Brown— 

who had a gun permit6—to buy the gun a few weeks before the shooting, saying it would be good for 

her personal protection, and he also encouraged her to buy the 30-round extension (ECF 356-1 at 21-

23). Law enforcement located Mr. Bolden’s gun (a Ruger) in the map pocket behind the driver’s seat,

and Mr. Bolden later pleaded guilty in a separate case to possessing the gun (ECF 366 at 25). Ms.

Brown was able to claim possession of her own gun, so Mr. Beamon was never charged with unlawful

possession of a weapon (ECF 356-1 at 25-26).

Officers also stopped Mr. Beachem’s Pontiac Bonneville, with this vehicle occupied by Mr.

5 Sierra Brown was Mr. Beamon’s girlfriend at the time of the offense.

6 Mr. Beamon didn’t have a gun permit (ECF 356-1 at 23-24).

5
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Beachem and Shiquan Guy, Calvin Keys, and Dyzel Bowen (ECF 366 at 25). Mr. Beachem had his

loaded handgun in the glovebox (ECF 366 at 25). lira subsequent controlled buy, a confidential source 

purchased another firearm used in the shooting from Mr. Beamon (ECF 366 at 25).

.Mr. Burrus’ car wasn’t stopped in the immediate aftermath, though the occupants of that 

vehicle feared a stop and tossed guns out of the car (ECF 366 at 26). Mr. Burrus later confirmed that

he was almost involved in another shooting with Mafia members at another liquor store later that

same night (ECF. 366 at 30). He said he would have shot at them had the Mafia members not been

armed (Ex. 1 at 38; ECF 360 at 38).

After Mr. Bolden had been arrested on his unlawful possession of a weapon charge, some 

members of 2500, including Messrs. Burrus and Beamon, tried to convince Mr. Beamon’s girlfriend, 

Ms. Brown, to go to the police station and falsely claim ownership of Mr. Bolden’s weapon that was

seized from her car (ECF 366 at 27-29; ECF 360 at 49; ECF 356-1 at 28) .7 Mr. Burrus, who was

directing this effort alongside an informant, encouraged Ms. Brown to use a notarized statement to

retrieve the guns (Ex. 1 at 22; ECF 366 at 31; ECF 360 at 30; ECF 356-1 at 29). They hoped that this

would.result in Mr. Bolden’s release from jail for the unlawful possession of firearms charge (Ex. 1 at 

23; ECF 366 at 31; ECF 360 at 31). They were also nervous about fingerprints on these guns because 

members often shared guns for mutual protection and their fingerprints would be on them (Ex. 1 at

26; ECF.366 at 31; ECF 360 at 34). Though the group called Mr. Bolden while they were discussing

their plans to have Ms. Brown retrieve the gun, he seems not to have vocalized his support for this

plan (ECF 366 at 31; ECF 360 at 36, 81, 146). Mr. Bolden said only at one point that he was “solid,”

which law enforcement interpreted to mean that he wouldn’t say anything incriminatory (Ex. 1 at 29;

ECF 360 at 37). Mr. Burrus opined that Ms. Brown had only three days (“seventy-two hours”) to

7 Ms. Brown also wanted to claim ownership of her own gun, which was in the custody of law enforcement 
(ECF 356-1 at 28).
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claim ownership of the gun before it went to court (Ex. 1 at 55; ECF 360 at 34).

Mr. Burrus asked an informant to coach Ms. Brown on how to go about retrieving the gun,

worrying that she might make a mistake (Ex. 1 at 62; ECF 366 at 32). Messrs. Beamon, Bolden, and

the informant met Ms. Brown at the police station, and Ms. Brown talked to someone at the front

desk about getting her guns back (ECF 366 at 32).

During their conversations with Ms. Brown, Mr. Burrus said he wasn’t leaving Fort Wayne

until he “[caught] a body” (Ex. 1 at 5; ECF 366 at 29; ECF 360 at 21,109). He expressed his frustration

with another 2500 member for not taking the guns for the group, even though the member had a gun

permit (Ex. 1 at 25; ECF 366 at 29, 31 (referring to him as a “little bitch”); ECF 360 at 26-27). He

talked about how he tried to delete the 2500 videos off YouTube (Ex. 1 at 19; ECF 366 at 29). Mr.

Burrus then commented that he wanted a gun because he was “naked out here,” meaning that he

needed the gun for protection against the rival’s retaliation (Ex. 1 at 32; ECF 366 at 30; ECF 360 at.

37). Mr. Burrus said that 2500 would never stop, that he would continue to protect his guys, and that

he didn’t care if there were a hundred of Mafia’s members, he was still going to shoot (Ex. 1 at 50;

ECF 366 at 30; ECF 360 at 47). He said, “K over everything,” meaning that he was willing to kill

anyone (Ex. 1 at 25;.ECF 360 at 86).

A short time after the shooting, members of 2500 posted a music video online about the

shooting. Messrs. Burrus, Beamon, and others appeared in a video specifically referencing the shooting 

on October 4, saying “fifty shots and now we hot” (ECF 366 at 18). A participant in the background

of the video said something to the effect of: “[d]on’t say that” or they’ll know it was them who did

the shooting (ECF 360 at 133). They were later charged with this offense and pleaded guilty.

The probation office issued presentence investigation reports for each defendant. The.

defendants first object to the application of the attempted murder guideline for counts 9,11, and 13,

which charged the defendants with attempted assault and assault in furtherance of racketeering

7
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activity. See 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(3), (6). They next object to the application of the obstruction of

justice enhancement. Two'defendants (Messrs. Beachem and Bolden) also object to application of the

multiple count adjustment in U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4, citing to their plea agreements’ recommendation

regarding concurrent sentencing.

The court held an evidentiary hearing regarding these objections on July 28, 2020. The

government also sought to introduce grand jury testimony for the court’s consideration at sentencing.

The parties submitted additional briefing regarding the objections following the hearing.

DISCUSSION

■A. Sierra Brown’s Grand Jury Testimony is Admissible.

The government seeks to introduce Sierra Brown’s grand jury testimony for consideration at

sentencing. She was William Beamon’s girlfriend and was present at the shooting. She didn’t testify at

the evidentiary hearing. No defendant has objected to admission of her testimony.

' The proper functioning of grand juries relies on their secrecy. Douglas Oil Co. of Cal. v. Petrol

Stops N.W.,441 U.S. 211, 218 (1979). This is true for several reasons: disclosure would make many

prospective witnesses hesitant to come forward voluntarily when they know their testimony may be

disclosed; witnesses who come forward would be less likely to be fully candid; witnesses would be

susceptible to improper influence from outsiders; and persons who are accused but exonerated won’t

be held to public ridicule. Id. at 219. That said, disclosure is permitted in limited circumstances, see

Fed. R. Crim. P. 6(e)(3), with some reluctance, Douglas Oil, 441 U.S. at 219. The court may disclose

grand jury testimony “only in those cases where the need for it outweighs the public interest in

secrecy.” Id. at 223.

Rule 6 articulates a non-exhaustive list of circumstances when the court may disclose this

testimony under the court’s “inherent supervisory authority.” Carlson v. United States, 837 F.3d 753, 763

(7th Cir. 2016). Disclosure is permitted “in connection with a judicial proceeding,” Fed. R. Crim. P.

8
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6(e)(3)(E)(i), which includes sentencing, see, eg., United States v. McDowell, 888 F.2d 285, 289 (3d Cir.

1989) (evidence that defendant had suborned perjured testimony in grand jury proceedings was 

admissible when it affected sentencing calculation); United States v. Bravo-Femande% 792 F. Supp.2d 203, 

204-05 (D.P.R. 2011) (permitting disclosure to probation officers to assist them in preparation of

presentence report); United States v. Foggo, 595 F. Supp.2d 672, 679 (E.D. Va. 2009) (permitting

disclosure when it would provide information relevant to a just sentence). At sentencing, “the goals 

of the Sentencing Guidelines are [sometimes] best served by disclosure [of the testimony], because 

disclosure allows the trial judge, and before him the presentence investigator, to fully consider all of

the factors [that] the Guidelines have determined to be relevant.” McDowell, 888 F.2d at 289-90.

Disclosure of Ms. Brown’s testimony serves these ends.

There is a compelling need for her testimony here. It is reliable. She testified under oath. She

was Mr. Beamon’s girlfriend at the time of offense. She was present with gang members before, during,

and after the shooting. She knew the gang members and heard their conversations, and other gang 

members encouraged her to claim ownership of one of Mr. Bolden’s guns. See 18 U.S.C. § 3661; United 

States v. Tankson, 836 F.3d 873, 881 (7th Cir. 2016) (court may base sentencing decisions on reliable

evidence). Time has faded the details of the events in her mind, so the most accurate recall of facts is

her grand jury testimony. Her testimony is helpful in the guideline calculation as evidence for the

attempted murder and obstruction of justice enhancements. It'also aids the court in its 18 U.S.C.

§ 3553(a) analysis.

The public’s interest in secrecy is minimized for many reasons. The grand jury ended their 

service in September 2017, so there are no concerns with any future efforts to influence this specific 

grand jury’s investigation. Ms. Brown doesn’t object to the admission of her testimony. This court’s 

review of the testimony outside of public view and limited disclosure won’t negatively impact future

grand jury proceedings. See Douglas Oil Co., 441 U.S. at 222 (“courts must consider not only the
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immediate effects upon a particular grand jury, but also the possible effect upon the functioning of

future grand juries”). The>defendants already possess her testimony, and none object. Though Ms.

Brown names some unindicted individuals as 2500 members in her testimony, they are also referenced

in- other pieces of evidence, so any resulting harm is minimized, and ultimately the court doesn’t use

these references. This testimony isn’t being used improperly as an instrument to aid in a civil matter.

The court finds that the usefulness of the testimony outweighs the public’s interest in secrecy.

Accordingly, the court grants the government’s motion to consider her testimony and will do so here

(ECF 356), though the grand jury testimony transcript will remain under seal.

. B. . The Court Applies the Attempted Murder Guideline for Each Defendant.

• Each defendant argues that the presentence reports incorrecdy calculated their base offense

level for each of their convictions for attempted assault and assault in furtherance of racketeering

based on the attempted murder guideline (U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1) rather than the aggravated assault

(U.S.S.G, §• 2A2.-2) or -battery (U.S.S.G. § 2A2.3) guidelines. They say the government’s decision to

drop attempted murder charges because of plea bargaining forbids the court from then applying the

attempted murder guideline at sentencing. See generally United States Sent. Comm. (USSC), Selected

Offenses Against the Person (Murder, Assault, Kidnapping) and VICAR 33-35 (2020). Alternatively, they

argue that, even if the court could apply the attempted murder guidelines in this type of scenario under

certain circumstances, the facts here don’t establish attempted murder.

The Real Offense, Not the Charged Offense, Governs in Determining the Base Offense Revel 
Under U.S.S.G. § 2E1.3.

1.

The analysis under the sentencing guidelines starts with the offense of conviction as

determined by the Statutory Index in Appendix A. U.S.S.G. § lB1.2(a). Once the initial guideline

section is determined, relevant conduct principles determine the applicable guideline range, unless the

offense guideline says otherwise. U.S.S.G. § lB1.2(b).

Violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1959 (violent crimes in aid of racketeering) are governed by U.S.S.G.
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§ 2E1.3, which says the base offense level is the greater of either level 12 or “the offense level

applicable to the underlying crime or racketeering activity” (emphasis added). When the underlying 

conduct violates state law, the court uses the offense level corresponding to the most analogous federal 

offense. U.S.S.G. § 2E1.3 app. n.l. One might surmise then, albeit mistakenly, that the court should 

apply the offense level corresponding most closely with attempted assault or assault with a dangerous

weapon—the underlying charges in the indictment. See Ind. Code §§ 35-42-2-1 (b)(1), (f)(2) (battery),

35-42-2-1.5 (aggravated assault), 35-41-5-1 (attempt), and 35-41-2-4 (aiding an offense) (2014 eds.)-.

Not so fast, though. This circuit interprets “underlying racketeering-activity” as a cross-

reference that “introduce^] real-offense principles into the charge-offense system.” United. States v.

Masters, 978 F.2d 281, 284 (7th Cir. 1992). This is precisely so because “underlying racketeering

activity” speaks to “the underlying activity and not an underlying conviction.” Id. To determine the

“underlying racketeering activity,” the court looks at the whole offense, not just the offense of

conviction. Id at 284. The court does so even when there is an underlying conviction that would 

arguably fall under the state law application note. Id “Often there will be no other conviction, [but]

the existence of one in [a] case does not change the nature of the cross-reference.” Id

In Masters, a defendant was convicted of racketeering and conspiracy to commit racketeering. 

Id at 283. The sentencing court used U.S.S.G. § 2E1.1, which applies to racketeering conspiracies and 

says the base offense level is the higher of level 19 or the “offense level applicable to the underlying 

racketeering activity.” Id. The defendant argued the underlying racketeering activity was solicitation to 

commit murder, as charged in the indictment. Id at 282-83. This circuit disagreed and upheld the 

application of the murder guideline (U.S.S.G. § 2A1.1)—though he wasn’t charged with this offense— 

because the phrase “underlying racketeering activity” served as a cross-reference directing the court 

to look at relevant conduct to determine the real offense, not the charged offense. Id at 284-85.

Later this circuit affirmed application of the first-degree murder guideline under U.S.S.G.

11

A81



USDC IN/ND case l:17-cr-00007-DRL-SLC document 394 filed 03/19/21 page 12 of 25

§ 2E1.1(a)(2) when a defendant wasn’t charged with murder in the indictment. United States v. Garcia,

754 F.3d 460, 473-74 (7th-Cir. 2014). Like Masters, Garcia involved the cross-reference to “underlying

racketeering activity.” Id at 473. This circuit found by a preponderance of the evidence that the facts

established murder as his real offense. Id.

To' be sure, Masters and Garcia both involved racketeering (RICO) offenses under U.S.S.G.

§ 2E1-.1, and this case involves violent racketeering (VICAR) under U.S.S.G. § 2E1.3—altogether a

distinction without a difference because the language of the cross-references remains the same. Both

guidelines direct the court to apply the offense level based on the “underlying racketeering activity.”

Both cases follow the plain meaning of the guidelines. The court does so here too. See United States v.

Hill, 645 F.3d 900, 907-08 (7th Cir. 2011). Masters and Garcia effectively counsel the result.

• 'Little else need be said. That ends the issue, but perhaps it proves comforting to these

defendants that other circuits have reached this same result. For instance, the First Circuit applied

Masters in reversing a district court’s interpretation of “underlying racketeering activity” to apply only

to the charged offense rather than the real offense. United States v. Carrosga, 4 F.3d 70, 75 (1st Cir.

1993). The Eighth Circuit later used these same real offense principles to interpret “underlying

unlawful conduct” in U.S.S.G. § 2E1.4(a) and held that the murder guideline nonetheless applied to a

defendant convicted only of traveling in interstate commerce with the intent to commit murder for

hire. United States v. Smith, 232 F.3d 650, 651-52 (8th Cir. 2000) {per curiam).

- The defense cites a Second Circuit decision favoring the charged offense rather than the real

offense under U.S.S-.G. § 2E1.3, see United States v. McCall, 915 F.2d 811, 814 (2d Cir. .1990), but the

court must follow this circuit’s law. The defense offers no reason to deviate from Masters oi Garcia.

And McCall remains unpersuasive. McCall properly said that the applicable guideline section must be

determined by the offense of conviction, but that proves only the starting point, McCall, 915 F.2d at

814. McCall didn’t consider that U.S.S.G. § 2E1.3 contains a cross-reference directing the court to
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apply relevant conduct principles. See Masters, 978 F.2d at 284. In addition, the Second Circuit has

since walked away from McCall on this very issue. See United States v. Padilla, 961 F.2d 322, 326 (2d Cir.

1992) (holding that McCall “cease[s] to be relevant” after the initial selection of the guideline).1

The defendants—without citing to any authority other than the rule itself—next argue that

the phrase “acts and omissions,” from the guideline governing relevant conduct, includes only physical

acts. See U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3(a)(1). They contend that this phrase doesn’t countenance a person’s

corresponding mental state, thus foreclosing an inference that they intended to murder the victims.

Nothing within this guideline’s language cogently furnishes ground to root this distinction, and the

law frankly doesn’t recognize it. See, e.g, Masters, 978 F.2d at 284 (applying first-degree murder

guideline based on mens rea of malice aforethought rather than solicitation to commit murder based

on merely the intent to get another person to engage in conduct constituting a felony); United States v.

O ’Brien, 238 F.3d 822,825-27 (7th Cir. 2001) (defendant’s physical conduct in passing another motorist

while driving uphill in no-passing zone supported imposition of increased base offense level on

grounds that it was reckless, not just criminally negligent); United States v. Smith, 5 F.3d 259, 260-63

(7th Cir. 1993) (district court properly classified defendant’s offense as second-degree murder when

determining base offense level for unlawful possession of firearm, though not convicted for murder

in state court prosecution, inferring his intent based on his physical act and because he had been
‘J '

warned to stop shooting and responded with a threat to kill everybody). This court has likewise not 

seen a distinction. See United States v. Parker, 1:19-CR-51, ECF 67 at 2 (N.D. Ind. Feb. 4,2020) (applying

attempted voluntary manslaughter guideline in unlawful possession of a firearm case).

Indeed, for purposes here (a determination under chapter two of the sentencing guidelines),

8 McCall, 915 F.2d at 815, also said that applying real conduct principles would upset the parties’ expectations 
based on the plea agreement; but that concern doesn’t exist here. The parties here agreed on the statutory 
maximum, stipulated to most of the factual basis, and were informed that the court would make an independent 
judgment on the guidelines. Their plea agreements don’t bind the court to a particular offense or guideline, nor 
did the government agree to recommend that a particular guideline would apply.
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relevant conduct must be criminal conduct. United States v. Schaefer, 291 F.3d 932, 941 (7th Cir. 2002).

Conduct generally isn’t criminal absent a culpable mental state. See Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. 600,

605 (1994). It would thus be impossible at times to determine whether physical actions alone were

relevant conduct if the court couldn’t also consider the pertinent mental state (eg., crimes of attempt).

See United States v. Bums, 781 F.3d 688, 692-93 (4th Cir. 2015) (rejecting argument that the “acts and

omissions” language of.U.S.S.G. § lB1.3(a)(l)(A) encompasses only physical acts, and holding that

“acts and omissions necessarily incorporate mens rea”).

The defendants argue that finding an enhanced culpable mental state at sentencing results in

an Apprendi violation. Apprendi held that “[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that

increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a

jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000); see also

Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 301 (2004) (reaffirming Apprendi). Later concurring, Justice Scalia

noted that the door “remains open for a defendant to demonstrate that his sentence, whether inside

or outside the advisory Guidelines range, would not have been upheld but for the existence of a fact

found by the sentencing judge and not by the jury.” Gall v. United States, 552 U.S. 38, 60 (2007) (Scalia,

J.j concurring). The defense here says the government’s argument would result in the same

constitutional violation Justice Scalia envisioned.

Be that as it may, that challenge isn’t compelling here. This circuit has foreclosed such an

Apprendi challenge too. In Garcia, 754 F.3d at 473, the court found no Apprendi violation when the

judge applied the murder guideline as the cross-reference in a RICO offense to justify a maximum

sentence—a guideline for an offense for which the defendant wasn’t charged. This circuit held that

the “court was entitled to find the facts by a preponderance of the evidence, so long as those facts did

not affect either the statutory maximum ... or the statutory minimum.” Id. (citing Apprendi, 530 U.S.

at 466). The circuit reasoned that “[t]he district court’s finding that [the defendant] should be held
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accountable for the murders and attempted murders ... did nothing more than inform its decision on

the advisory guideline range and its ultimate choice of a reasonable sentence in light of the factors

identified in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).” Id Just as in Garcia, the court’s decision here only informs it as to

the recommended range within the statutory range and application of the § 3553(a) factors, so there

is no Apprendi violation.

Each Defendant Committed the Real Offense of Attempted Murder.2.

The court now examines each defendant’s relevant conduct to assess whether the attempted

first-degree murder guideline should apply. “Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being with

malice aforethought.” 18 U.S.C. § 1111(a); see U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1 app. n.l. Malice aforethought means

that “the murderer had to have harbored before the killing a conscious intention to kill.” United States

v. Delaney, 717 F.3d 553, 555 (7th Cir. 2013). Premeditated murder is murder in the first degree. 18

U.S.C. § 1111(a); Delaney, 717 F.3d at 555-56. Premeditation requires that “an appreciable time elapse

between formation of the design and the fatal act within which there is, in fact, deliberation.” Id.

(quoting Fisher v. United States, 328 U.S. 463, 469 n.3 (1946)). An individual attempts premeditated

murder when he “intend[s] the completed crime and takefs] a ‘substantial step’ toward its completion.”

United States v. Gladish, 536 F.3d 646, 648 (7th Cir. 2008) (citing Braxton v. United States, 500 U.S. 344,

349 (1991)).

There is no mistaking each defendant’s intention here. Each defendant was a member of the

2500 gang, which prided itself on violence against—and 'murder of—rivals. Its conflict with its rival

gang was described as a “war” by one member. Each defendant appeared in music videos glamormng

this violent lifestyle, where participants carried firearms, including two with distinctive laser sights

used in this shooting, or made finger trigger motions signifying gunshots. The lyrics encouraged the

murder of rivals with guns as revenge for the killing of Mr. Adams, with their rivals clearly in their

sights. They not only thought it out but played it out to music in full-dress rehearsal. Each defendant
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had a substantial amount of time to ponder their involvement with the gang, and they each could have

decided to disengage. They didn’t but persisted toward the shooting of the rival gang’s house. On this

record, they did so with malice aforethought.

a. Demetri Beachem.

The evidence demonstrates Mr. Beachem’s intent to kill. He mimicked trigger fire with his 

hands in the music videos (ECF 360 at 127). He was present at the mall when the group viewed the

insulting social media videos about Mr. Adams and 2500 (ECF 366 at 21-22; ECF 356-1 at 8-10). He

traveled to the location where the video was filmed, looking for its makers (ECF 366 at 23). Mr.

Beachem orally challenged J.S. and F.B. prior to the shooting (Ex. 2 at 3). He fired the first shot at J.S. 

and F.B. with a weapon that had a laser light attached to it, pointing the laser at his victims (ECF 366

at 24, 27; Ex. 2 at 3).

Following the shooting, and at a traffic stop, law enforcement found Mr. Beachem’s loaded

handgun in the glovebox in front of him (ECF 366 at 25). Mr. Beachem had fired at least 11-rounds

from a .45 caliber pistol in the shooting (ECF 366 at 26). Mr. Beachem continued shooting at J.S., 

even after J.S. had dropped for cover. Mr Beachem admitted in his plea hearing that he discharged his 

firearm and damaged the house, acknowledging that he was intending to shoot at F.B. and J.S. (ECF

366 at 11-13). He didn’t dispute the recorded statements of Messrs. Keys and Houston, which said he

was present and fired a gun during the shooting (ECF 366 at 12-13).

In particular, Mr. Beachem admitted that he fired his handgun in the direction of “two figures” 

exiting the Suttenfield house and that he fired his handgun “intentionally knowing that the two men

were in the line of fire” (ECF 335 39). These facts alone are sufficient to establish attempted murder.

See Pigee v. Israel, 670 F.2d 690, 695-96 (7th Cir. 1982) (inferring intent to kill is rational when a

defendant shot two persons at a bar, because death is “the natural, probable, and usual consequences

of such shooting”).
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Mr. Beachem appeared in the “Scooby Livin’’ video, published July 11, 2014, when he made

gun-hand gestures (ECF 360 at 125-27). One of the lines in that video was “Knocking [explicit] down

cause he a hitter,” which means shooting at people (ECF 360 at 129). He was in the “It’s Da Block”

video, published November 13, 2014, with one line being “50 shots and now we’re hot,” referring to

the approximately 50 shots fired during the shooting (ECF 360 at 132-33; ECF 366 at 18). He also

appeared in other videos of a similar nature.

b. William Beamon.

The evidence likewise demonstrates Mr. Beamon’s intent to kill. Mr. Beamon already had a

violent history with rival Mafia members, admitting during a recorded conversation that he shot a

Mafia member and his girlfriend in 2012, in which he “saw them fall” (ECF 366 at 18-19). He scoffed

at his rival’s weakness when the rival failed to respond with violence (ECF 366 at 19). He said he

wanted then to kill the rival’s wounded girlfriend (ECF 366 at 19). He later admitted trying to shoot

at another rival on a different occasion, but his gun jammed (ECF 366 at 19). He later said members

of the group like him used .40 caliber weapons at times instead of smaller weapons to be more lethal

(ECF 360 at 56).

Mr. Beamon was present at the mall when the group viewed the insulting social media videos

about Mr. Adams and 2500 (ECF 366 at 21-22; ECF 356-1 at 8-10). He traveled to the location where
. V

the video was filmed, looking for its makers (ECF 366 at* 23). Following the shooting, and after a

traffic stop, law enforcement found Ms. Brown’s loaded handgun—which was used in the shooting—

in the glove box directly in front of Mr. Beamon along with a high capacity magazine for the gun on

the floor (ECF 366 at 25; ECF 356-1 at 21). Indeed, Mr. Beamon had encouraged Ms. Brown to buy

that gun only a few weeks before the shooting and to buy a 30-round extension (ECF 356-1 at 21-23).

Mr. Beamon pulled out a gun on an “op” (opposition gang member) at a liquor store after the

“op” made derogatory comments about 2500 shordy after the shooting on the same night (ECF 366
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at 24; ECF 360 at 56, 102-03; ECF 356-1 at 17). He appeared in a video shortly after the shooting 

with the lyrics “fifty shots and now we hot” (ECF 366 at 18)—referring to the shooting at issue here 

and leading another participant to say “[d]on’t say that” or they might be detected (ECF 360 at 133). 

He fired at least 12 rounds during the shooting (ECF 366 at 26).

In Mr. Beamon’s plea, he admitted discharging a firearm at the victims and that, had his

attempt to shoot them been successful, he would have caused serious injury or death to them (ECF 

367 at 18-24). He told detectives that anyone who was with a Mafia member was fair game and was 

going to be in the line of fire (ECF 360 at 57). Mr. Beamon confirmed the disrespectful videos of F.B. 

and J.S. filmed on 2500’s territory were the impetus (ECF 360 at 55-56).

Mr. Beamon admitted that he “shot at individuals, including F.B., J.S., and S.E.,” which

occurred “because of a rivalry between the 2500 gang and [the Mafia]” (ECF 318 ^[ 39). He 

acknowledged that the shooting “happened because of the gang rivalry, revenge and a desire to protect 

territory and promote the position of the 2500 gang” (ECF 318 ^[ 39). These facts are sufficient to

apply the attempted murder guideline. See Pigee, 670 F.2d at 695-96.

Mr. Beamon appeared in 2500’s videos “Ain’t Got Time For That” (published February 17,

2014) and “Move Around” (published June 12, 2014). In each, he was holding a handgun with an

extended magazine; the videos discussed shooting and killing rivals (ECF 360 at 113-16, 119). He 

appeared in the “Scooby Livin’’ video (published July 11, 2014) and “Zan with the Lean” (published 

August 21,2014), both of which referred to shooting and killing others (ECF 360 at 125-26,129,131-

32). Mr. Beamon recited lyrics specifying that “ops” would be killed with gunfire and that people 

would know their group’s name based on its violent activities (ECF 329 ^[ 11). He was in the “It’s Da

Block” video (published November 13, 2014) with one line being “50 shots and now we’re hot” (ECF

360 at 132-33)—again glamorizing this very shooting and their intent to kill opposition gang members.

He also appeared in many other videos of a similar nature. As a whole, these videos contained firearms
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with laser pointers, threats of shooting at the opposition, and finger simulations of shooting at

others—reflections of an intent on which he then acted.

c. Kyombe Bolden.

The evidence demonstrates Mr. Bolden’s intent to kill. He was present at the mall when the

group viewed the insulting social media videos about Mr. Adams and 2500 (ECF 366 at 21-22; ECF

356-1 at 8-10). He traveled to the location where the video was filmed, looking for its makers (ECF

366 at 23). He fired at least 3 rounds from his .40 caliber Ruger in the shooting (ECF 366 at 26). Mr.

Bolden admitted shooting and discharging his firearm at F.B. and J.S. (ECF 329 f 40).

Mr. Bolden appeared in the “Move Around” (published June 12, 2014) (Tr. 122), “Taxin”

(published June 20,2014), and “Zan with the Lean” (published August 21,2014) videos, each of which

referenced shooting and killing rivals (ECF 360 at 122, 124, 129, 131-32). Mr. Bolden recited lyrics

specifying that opposition gang members would be killed with gunfire and that people would know

their group’s name based on its violent activities (ECF 329 f 11). He appeared in other videos of a

similar nature. As a whole, these videos contained firearms with laser pointers, threats of shooting at

the opposition, and finger simulations of shooting at others. These facts sufficiently warrant the

attempted murder guideline. See Bigee, 670 F.2d at 695-96.

d. Bonnie Burms.

YRonnie Burrus was present at the mall when the group viewed the insulting social media videos

about Mr. Adams and 2500 (ECF 366 at 21-22; ECF 356-1 at 8-10). He traveled to the location where

the video was .filmed, looking for its makers (ECF 366 at 23). Mr. Burrus admitted he was almost

involved in another shooting with Mafia members that same night at another liquor store and said he

would have shot at them had they not been armed (ECF 360 at 38). He later said he wasn’t leaving

Fort Wayne until he “[caught] a body” (Ex. 1 at 5; ECF 366 at 29; ECF 360 at 21, 109). He said he

wanted a gun because he felt “naked out here,” meaning he wanted a gun for protection against
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retaliation from rivals (Ex. 1 at 32; ECF 366 at 30; ECF 360 at 37). He said 2500 would never stop,

that he would continue to protect his guys, and that he didn’t care if there were a hundred of Mafia’s

members, he was still going to shoot (Ex. 1 at 50; ECF 366 at 30; ECF 360 at 47-48).

Mr. Burrus also said “K over everything,” which meant that he was willing to kill anyone (Ex.

1 at 25; ECF 360 at 86). He appeared in a video shortly after the shooting in which he said “fifty shots

and now we hot” (ECF 366 at 18)—again glamorizing the shooting and leading another participant

to say “[djon’t say that” or they might be detected (ECF 360 at 133). He admitted pointing his red

beam at the victims while shooting at them (Ex. 1 at 28; ECF 360 at 86). Mr. Burrus was also motivated

by the fact that F.B. had previously “snitched on” him (Ex. 1 at 14; ECF 360 at 28).

He appeared in the “Move Around” (published June 12, 2014), “Taxin” (published June 20,

2014), “Scooby Livin’’ (published July 11,2014), and “Zan with the Lean” (published August 21,2014)

videos, each of which referenced shooting and killing rivals. (ECF 360 at 122, 124-26, 129, 131-32).

Mr. Burrus recited lyrics specifying that ops would be killed with gunfire and that people would know

their group’s name based on its violent activities (ECF 329 f 11). He was in the “It’s Da Block” video

(published November 13, 2014) where he sang “50 shots and now we’re hot” in reference to the

shooting (ECF 360 at 132-33). This video had a firearm with a red laser beam like the one used in the

shooting (ECF 360 at 133). Mr. Burrus be heard throughout other videos saying things like “fuckcan

the ops” and threatening violence against them. As a whole, these videos contained firearms with laser

pointers, threats of shooting at the opposition, and finger simulations of shooting at others.

In addition to these acts and this evidence of intent, the defendants took substantial steps in 

attempting these murders. A substantial step is an “overt act adapted to, approximating, and which in

the ordinary and likely course of things will result in, the commission of the particular crime.” United

States v. Sanche% 615 F.3d 836, 844 (7th Cir. 2010) (quotation omitted). The overt acts consisted of the

following: each of the defendants chose to get into a vehicle and go to the shooting scene, motivated
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by Mafia’s disrespect; they each chose to carry a loaded weapon; each willingly fired multiple bullets 

aimed at the victims in the dark. In the ordinary and likely course of things, these overt acts would 

result in the death of the victims. See id. at 844-45. Here, the bullets sprayed houses occupied by people 

and vehicles. One victim was hit in the finger by a bullet. Bullets narrowly missed others.

The defendants admitted shooting at the house, but they argue that they didn’t intend to hit

the victims and thus didn’t attempt first-degree murder. They say this is evinced by the firing of fifty

bullets, all of which missed their targets. The court isn’t persuaded. That the defendants fired fifty

bullets at the victims without hitting them shows poor marksmanship in the dark, not an intention to

miss. It was a highly probable result of shooting fifty bullets in the direction they did that at least one

of the opposition gang members would be hit and killed. The court chooses to take the defendants at

their own word that they intended to kill these “ops.”

In sum, there is overwhelming evidence implicating each individual defendant for attempted

murder. The court applies the attempted murder guideline for counts 9, 11, and 13 pursuant to

U.S.S.G. § 2E1.3. .
*\

The Obstruction of Justice Enhancement Applies as to Messrs. Beamon, Burrus, and Bolden, but 
not to Mr. Beachem.

C.

The presentence investigation reports assessed the obstruction of justice enhancement as to

Messrs. Beamon, Bolden, and Burrus. It wasn’t assessed to Mr. Beachem (ECF 335 37), but the

government argues it should be. Each defendant says the enhancement shouldn’t apply to him.

The two-level obstruction of justice enhancement applies if:

(1) the defendant willfully obstructed or impeded, or attempted to obstruct or impede, 
the administration of justice with respect to the investigation, prosecution, or 
sentencing of the instant offense of conviction, and (2) the obstructive conduct related 
to (A) the defendant’s offense of conviction and any relevant conduct; or (B) a closely 
related offense ....

U.S.S.G. § 30.1. This circuit has held that the enhancement applies when a defendant “counsel[s] a

potential witness to make false statements to investigating authorities,” United States v. Lan^otti, 205
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F.3d 951, 957 (7th Cir. 2000) (applying enhancement when defendant encouraged bar owners to lie to

the IRS about their payment arrangement with defendant’s company), so long as the false statements

have a material impact on the investigation, U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1 app. n. 4(G) & app. n.5(B).

The enhancement applies as to Mr. Beamon and Mr. Burrus. A recorded conversation with an 

informant showed both these defendants were active participants in getting Ms. Brown to retrieve the

guns, with Mr. Burrus appearing to be a leader in the effort (Ex. 1 at 3, 12), which was important

evidence based on the ballistics results (ECF 360 at 22, 30; Ex. 1 at 21 (Mr. Burrus: “she got seventy-

two hours to go down there and say it’s hers”)). Law enforcement seized the guns as evidence

regarding the shooting (ECF 356-1 at 25-26). Mr. Burrus wanted Ms. Brown to write out a notarized

statement.claiming the guns were hers, with the goal being the dismissal of charges against Mr. Bolden

(ECF 356-1 at 29). Mr. Burrus asked the informant to “coach her” on how to retrieve the gun (Ex. 1

at 62; ECF 320 27) and accompanied Ms. Brown—along with Mr. Beamon—at the police station

(ECF 360 at 51), Ms. Brown said Mr. Beamon also made direct statements to convince her to.claim

Mr. Bolden’s gun too (ECF 356-1 at 28). Their encouragement of Ms. Brown was aimed at impeding

the investigation of this case (ECF 360 at 34-35, Ex. 1 at 22 (“He got seventy-two hours or the, or the

Feds gonna pick it up.”), 23, 24, 26, 32, 35).

While Mr. Bolden was on a phone call with Mr. Beamon and Mr. Burms when they discussed

their plans for Ms. Brown, he never said he wanted Ms. Brown to lie to law enforcement (ECF 360 at

81). Ordinarily, then, he wouldn’t receive this enhancement. The government concedes this point, but

argues under U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3(a)(1)(B) that Mr. Beamon’s and Mr. Burms’ efforts to obstruct justice

should be imputed to him.

The guideline says that in a jointly undertaken criminal activity, acts that were (1) within the

scope of the joint criminal activity; (2) in furtherance of that criminal activity; and (3) reasonably

foreseeable in connection with that activity, which occur in the course of attempting to avoid detection
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for that offense, may be counted as relevant conduct as to a particular defendant. U.S.S.G.

§ lB1.3(a)(l)(B); see United States v. Dean, 574 F.3d 836, 844-45 (7th Cir. 2009). In applying

§ lB1.3(a)(l)(B), the court must first “make a preliminary determination of the scope of the criminal

activity the defendant agreed to jointly undertake.” United States v. Salem, 597 F.3d 877, 886 (7th Cir.

2010). Then “the court must make a two-part determination of whether the conduct of others was

both in furtherance of that joint criminal activity and reasonably foreseeable to the defendant in

connection with the joint criminal activity.” Id

Here, the scope of the criminal activity for which Mr. Bolden agreed to jointly undertake was,

on a narrow scale, the attempted murders, and on a broader scale, the furtherance of 2500’s goals and

objectives, which after the shooting included the scheme related to the firearms. Messrs. Burrus’ and

Beamon’s conduct occurred within the scope of this joint criminal activity. It also furthered the joint

criminal activity, as it would have helped the defendants and other gang members evade detection.

Mr. Bolden knew of these plans. He participated as a privy to this joint criminal activity, so it was

reasonably foreseeable to him that the attempted obstruction would occur and for his benefit.

Accordingly, the court applies the enhancement to Mr. Bolden.

The government argues that this enhancement should also apply to Mr. Beachem. On this

record, he wasn’t involved in the group’s efforts to recruit Ms Brown to obstruct justice. The 

government concedes this point, but again says the enhancement should apply as jointly undertaken

criminal activity (U.S.S.G. § lB1.3(a)(l)(B)). Messrs. Burrus’ and Beamon’s conduct furthered the joint

criminal activity. Unlike Mr. Bolden, though, Mr. Beachem couldn’t reasonably foresee that Mr.

Beamon and Mr. Burrus would engage in these efforts, as he had no part in these discussions. For all

he knew, at least on this record, the gang had decided to leave things as they were without interfering

days after the shooting. Accordingly, the court doesn’t apply the enhancement for Mr. Beachem.

23

A93

SO



USDC IN/ND case l:17-cr-00007-DRL-SLC document 394 filed 03/19/21 page 24 of 25

D. The Court Overrules Messrs. Beachem and Bolden’s Objection to the Application of the Multiple 
Count Adjustment in U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4.

Messrs. Beachem and Bolden object to the application of the multiple count adjustment in

U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4. This guideline directs the court to add offense levels when multiple offenses are

grouped together under the guidelines, resulting in a higher sentencing range. See U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4.

Messrs. Beachem and Bolden say that this guideline conflicts with their plea agreement provision that

Counts 9, 11, and 13 should run concurrently, arguing that a plain meaning of “concurrent” would

have the sentence for all three counts calculated separately and then served simultaneously such that

the most serious count would control. The court disagrees.

Neither Messrs. Beachem nor Bolden cite to any authority supporting their argument. Both

plea agreements say Counts 9,11, and 13 must run concurrently pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5G1.2(c), and

the specific reference to the guidelines necessarily incorporates the steps required to properly

determine their sentencing range. U.S.S.G. § 1B1.1 says multiple count adjustments in § 3D all apply

prior to determining the guideline range and the sentencing requirements in parts B through G of

Chapter 5. See U.S.S.G. § 1B1.1 (a). Offenses may still mn concurrently even if the guidelines’ grouping

rules recommend a higher sentence because of multiple underlying convictions. Applying § 3D1.4

here doesn’t violate their plea agreements.

CONCLUSION

In the course of committing the crimes listed in the indictment, each defendant attempted the

murder of J.S. and F.B. The guidelines direct the court to apply the attempted murder guideline for 

each defendant for counts 9,11, and 13 as a cross reference under U.S.S.G. § 2E1.3.

The obstruction of justice enhancement applies as to Messrs. Beamon, Bolden, and Burrus,

but does not apply as to Mr. Beachem.

The multiple count adjustment (U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4) applies to all defendants.

The court grants Mr. Beamon’s (ECF 361) and Mr. Bolden’s (ECF 363) motions to seal and
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